THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FOR GREENVILLE COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case Number 2019-000046
Case No: 2018-CP-23-03034

RECEIVED
AUG 01 2019
SC Court of Appeals

Elvia Stoppiello and Gilberto Garcia.....Appellants,

v.

William D. Turner and Charter Communications, LLC.....Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Brian T. Smith, SC Bar# 70232
714 Pettigru Street
Greenville, SC 29601
Telephone: (864) 239-2007
Facsimile: (864) 239-2039
Attorney for Appellants

Michelle DeLuca Yarbrough
SC Bar No. 15603
Natalie Rae Ecker
SC Bar No. 103624
Gallivan White & Boyd, P,A,
P.O. Box 10589

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Trial Court error in ordering a dismissal of the case under Rule 12(b)(6), South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure?
2. Did the Trial Court err in ordering a dismissal of the case under South Carolina Code §15-3-530(5) and §15-3-535?
3. Appellant Stoppiello had a traumatic brain injury, a disability, which under S.C. Code § 15-3-40, tolls the statute of limitations.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts underlying the case at bar involve a complex collision that took place on April 21, 2015. Appellants have alleged in their well-plead Complaint (R. pp. 19-29) that Appellant Stoppiello was traveling on Airport Road when Respondent Turner, acting within the scope of his employment with Respondent Charter, failed to stop and collided with her vehicle. Appellant Stoppiello contends that she experienced backache, headaches and, finally a concussion and severe neurological impairment requiring medical treatment.

On May 24, 2018, Appellants Elvia Stoppiello [hereinafter Appellant Stoppiello] and Gilberto Garcia [hereinafter Appellant Garcia] filed suit against Respondents William D. Turner [hereinafter Respondent Turner] and Charter Communications [hereinafter Respondent Charter] alleging negligence stemming from the motor vehicle accident with a separate claim for negligent hiring against Respondent Charter.

An Affidavit of Service was filed June 25, 2018 indicating positive service upon Charter Communication. Counsel for the Respondents filed an Answer on July 6, 2018 (R. pp. 30-39) accepting service for William D. Turner and Charter Communication. On November 2, 2018, the Respondents filed a Motion to Dismiss or, Alternatively, for Summary Judgment pursuant to

Rule 12(b)(6) of the SCRCPC (R. pp. 40-41) which was heard on November 28, 2018 (R. pp. 60-71). On November 30, 2018, Judge Verdin granted the Motion to Dismiss (R. pp. 12-18). On December 6, 2018, Appellants filed a Motion to Reconsider (R. pp. 6-11). Judge Verdin Ordered the Case Dismissed on December 12, 2018 (R. pp. 3-5) and Denied the Motion to Reconsider on January 7, 2019 (R. pp. 16-17).

STANDARD OF REVIEW AND ARGUMENT

I. The court erred in the dismissal of the case under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCPC on the grounds that the Complaint fails to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action and to grant a Motion for Summary Judgment under Rule 56, SCRCPC.

In *Miller v. Blumenthal Mills, Inc.*, 616 SE2d 722, 365 S.C 204, 220 (Ct. App. 2005), the Court argues that "Summary Judgment is not appropriate where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law". (*Id*) When Motion for Summary Judgment is being disputed, "The party seeking summary judgment has the burden of clearly establishing the absence of a genuine issue of material fact. Once the moving party moving for summary judgment meets the initial burden of showing an absence of evidentiary support for the opponent's case, the opponent cannot simply rest on mere allegations or denials contained in the pleadings. Rather, the nonmoving party must come forward with specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial. (*Id*). In *Miller*, the court goes on to say that "Because it is a drastic remedy, summary judgment should be cautiously invoked to ensure that a litigant is not improperly deprived of a trial on disputed factual issues. (*Id*)

Here, for reasons more thoroughly laid out below, there are issues under dispute and therefore, dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCPC was not proper.

II. The Court improperly used a strict interpretation of South Carolina Code § 15-3-530(5) and §15-3-535 when it dismissed the case.

The Respondents argue that "Pursuant to South Carolina Code §15-3-530(5) and §15-3-535, Plaintiffs' claim must have commenced within three years after they knew or by exercise of reasonable diligence should have known that they had a cause of action. Plaintiffs, however, filed their action on May 24, 2018 and therefore, failed to file their action within the time allowed by the statute of limitations" (R. p. 14)

Appellants do not argue that the action was filed on May 24, 2018. The South Carolina Supreme Court modified its application of the Statute of Limitations in *Snell v. Columbia Gun Exchange Inc.*, 276 S.C 301,278 S.E. 2d 333,334 (S.C.1981) when it held that:

Section 15-3-535 is of recent date and has not heretofore been construed by this Court. The exercise of reasonable diligence means simply that an injured party must act with some promptness where the facts and circumstances of an injury would put a person of common knowledge and experience on notice that some right of his has been invaded or that some claim against another party might exist. The statute of limitations begins to run from this point and not when advice of counsel is sought, or a full-blown theory of recovery developed.

Here, initially following the accident, Appellant Stoppiello presented with sleep disturbances, balance difficulties, light headedness, dizziness, and headaches all of which were temporary in nature. Throughout chiropractic treatment she experienced severe headaches and seeing lights following each treatment session. (R. p. 75). For this reason, chiropractic treatment was discontinued, she was diagnosed with Cervicocranial syndrome (R. p. 78) and referred to Palmetto Proactive for the remainder of treatment (R. pp. 78). It was not until March 28, 2016 that Dr. Smith diagnosed her with a concussion without loss of consciousness. (R. p. 82)

Without a medical finding of a concussion, in Appellant Stoppiello's case, a reasonable person with common knowledge and experience may have a different inference for the cause of her injuries. Appellant Stoppiello had headaches and felt electricity. She then, as laid out in Dr. White's evaluation (R. p. 84-85), suffered memory loss, memory lapses accompanied by cognitive decline, and personality changes. She and her husband began to have marital issues because they did not understand what Appellant Stoppiello was going through. She sought medical care that didn't help with her symptoms. She was diagnosed by Dr. Fox in the summer of 2015 (R. pp. 80-81) with simple tension headaches. Stress causes tension headaches and marital issues cause stress. A reasonable person of common knowledge and common experience with marital issues that is having headaches could infer, as in Appellant Stoppiello's case, that these issues were the cause of tension headaches.

This Court has ruled on the existence of circumstances in which the Statute of Limitations as it is written, should be viewed in a more objective manner. In *Grillo v. Speedrite Products*, 340 S.C. 498, 508, 532 S.E2d 1 (S.C. Ct. App. 2000), in ruling on a case where the cause of the injury, toxic exposure, was not immediately known and instead was recognized at a later date, the Court held that "We find more than one inference can be drawn as to when a reasonable person would have been on notice that he might have a cause of action Institution of an action based on those temporary symptoms would have been premature and possible frivolous." Here, Appellant Stoppiello was suffering cognitive deficits brought on by a traumatic brain injury and was not a person of common knowledge and experience. Elvia case differs from *Snell* in that she suffers from a traumatic brain injury. Appellant Stoppiello was not aware that she suffered a traumatic brain injury until Dr. Smith diagnosed her with one on March

28, 2016 (R. pp. 82-83) Before her diagnosis, she suffered from a series of temporary symptoms that could not be directly attributed to the automobile accident that occurred on April 21, 2015.

III. The statute of limitations is tolled under S.C. Code §15-3-40 due to Appellant Stoppiello's diagnosis of a traumatic brain injury.

Appellant Stoppiello's evaluation from Dr. White shows that her disability is continuing in nature and the statute remains tolled for the five-year period. S.C. Code§ 15-3-40. S.C. Code§ 15- 3-40 states that "the time of the disability is not a part of the time limited for the commencement of the action, except that the period within which the action must be brought cannot be extended: (a) more than five years by any such disability; nor (b) in any case longer than one year after the disability ceases. *Id.* Here, the five-year period runs from April 21, 2015 to April 21, 2020.

The Respondents use the case of *Wiggins v. Edwards*, 442 S.E.2d 169,314 S.C. 126 (S.C., 1994) to argue that "she should have been aware of a potential claim on the date of the accident and that she needed to act with promptness when the facts and circumstances of the injury would have put her or a person of common knowledge and experience on notice that some right of hers had been invaded or that a claim against another party might exist." We disagree. *Wiggins* refers to an auto accident in which the Plaintiff did not sustain a head injury of any kind. In *Wiggins*, *Id* at 170, the Court explains that:

The general rule as to the standard for insanity under tolling statutes is that:

Insanity or mental incompetency that tolls the statute of limitations consists of a mental condition which precludes understanding the nature or effects of one's acts, an incapacity to manage one's affairs, an inability to understand or protect one's rights, because of an over-all inability to function in society, or the mental condition is such as to require care in a hospital.

Appellants refer to Dr. White's evaluation (R. pp. 84-85) showing that Appellant Stoppiello suffered from a traumatic brain injury that caused mental confusion. Dr. White offers his medical opinion in the last paragraph, "It is my opinion, to a reasonably degree of medical certainty [Appellant Stoppiello] is experiencing sequelae of traumatic brain injury, with neurologic deficits and neuropsychiatric difficulties and ongoing headaches." (R. p. 85) Dr. White shows that her mental state would prevent her from understanding or protecting her rights. The respondents use *Snell* to argue that "They don't have to have a specific diagnosis. They don't have to have a full-blown theory of recovery." (R. p. 66, lines 22-25) The Court in *Snell* holds that "the statutory period bars recovery in the absence of other legally recognized disabilities" *id* at 335 (emphasis added).