THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

---

Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No.: 2019-000046

---

**RECEIVED**

JUL 31 2019

SC Court of Appeals

Elvia Stoppiello and Gilberto Garcia,.....Appellants,

v.

William D. Turner and Charter Communications, LLC,.....Respondents.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

---

Michelle DeLuca Yarbrough  
(S.C. Bar No. 15603)  
Natalie Rae Ecker  
(S.C. Bar No. 103624)  
Gallivan, White & Boyd, P.A.  
P.O. Box 10589  
Greenville, South Carolina 29603  
Telephone: (864) 271-5349  
Facsimile: (864) 271-7502

Attorneys for Respondents

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the trial court erred in ordering a dismissal pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.
- II. Whether the trial court erred in ordering a dismissal pursuant to Sections 15-3-530(5) and 15-3-535 of the South Carolina Code.
- III. Whether Appellant Elvia Stoppiello is entitled to the toll the statute of limitations pursuant to Section 15-3-40 of the South Carolina Code.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 21, 2015, Appellant Elvia Stoppiello (hereinafter referred to as “Appellant Stoppiello”) and Respondent William D. Turner (hereinafter referred to as “Respondent Turner”) were in an automobile accident on Airport Road in Greenville County, South Carolina. (R. p. 20, lines 13-18). At the time of the automobile accident, Respondent Turner was acting within the scope of his employment with Respondent Charter Communications, LLC (hereinafter referred to as “Respondent Charter”). (R. p. 22, lines 11-16).

As a result of the automobile accident, allegedly involving Appellant Stoppiello being struck at a high rate of speed, she was thrown around her vehicle, had headaches, and sought medical treatment. (R. p. 20, lines 15-21). Months later, Appellant Stoppiello sought additional medical treatment for headaches, flashing lights, and other symptoms. (R. p. 21, lines 1-3) (emphasis added). On March 28, 2016, Appellant Stoppiello was diagnosed with a traumatic brain injury that allegedly resulted from a concussion caused by the automobile accident. (R. p. 21, lines 5-12).

On May 24, 2018, Appellant Stoppiello and her husband, Gilberto Garcia, (hereinafter collectively referred to as “Appellants”) filed suit against William D. Turner and Charter Communications, LLC (hereinafter collectively referred to as “Respondents”) in the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas. Appellants allege negligence as to Respondent Turner and

negligence, negligent hiring, negligent training, and negligent supervision as to Respondent Charter. (R. p. 22, line 17-p. 28, line 15).

On June 25, 2018, an Affidavit of Service was filed indicating positive service upon Respondent Charter and, on July 6, 2018, counsel for Respondents filed an answer accepting service for Respondent Charter and Respondent Turner. In their answer, Respondents timely and properly asserted the statute of limitations defense. (R. p. 35, lines 14-19). Respondents also properly asserted that, under Rule 12(b)(6) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, Appellants failed to state facts in their complaint sufficient to constitute a cause of action against them. (R. p. 37, lines 12-17).

On November 2, 2018, Respondents filed a Motion to Dismiss or, alternatively, for Summary Judgment, which was heard on November 28, 2018. (R. pp. 1-2). On November 30, 2018, Judge Letitia Verdin granted Respondents' Motion to Dismiss and, on December 6, 2018, Appellants filed a Motion to Reconsider. (R. pp. 3-11).

On December 12, 2018, Judge Verdin Ordered the case dismissed in its entirety with prejudice based on the following conclusions of law: (1) an injured party must act promptly when the facts and circumstances of an injury would place a reasonable person on notice that a claim against another party might exist; (2) pursuant to Sections 15-3-530(5) and 15-3-535 of the South Carolina Code, Appellants' claims must have commenced within three years after they knew or by reasonable diligence should have known they had a cause of action; and (3) Appellants failed to file their action within the time allowed by the statute of limitations. (R. p. 14). Thereafter, on January 7, 2019, Judge Verdin denied Appellants' Motion to Reconsider based on the prior finding that the statute of limitations had run by the time the action was commenced. (R. p. 16).

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The trial court granted Respondents' Motion to Dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. "On appeal from the dismissal of a case pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), an appellate court applies the same standard of review as the trial court." Brouwer v. Sisters of Charity Providence Hosps., 409 S.C. 514, 519, 763 S.E.2d 200, 202 (2014) (citing Rydde v. Morris, 381 S.C. 643, 646, 675 S.E.2d 431, 433 (2009)). "That standard requires the Court to construe the complaint in a light most favorable to the nonmovant and determine if the facts alleged and the inferences reasonably deducible from the pleadings would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory [] of the case." Id. "The Court may sustain the dismissal when the facts alleged in the complaint do not support relief under any theory of law." Id. (citing Flateau v. Harrelson, 355 S.C. 197, 202, 584 S.E.2d 413, 416 (Ct. App. 2003)).

## ARGUMENT

I. This Court should affirm the trial court's decision based on the grounds appearing in the Record of Appeal.

For the reasons outlined below and pursuant to SCACR Rule 220(c), the trial court's order was proper and should be affirmed.

II. The trial court did not err in ordering a dismissal pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.

Pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, a motion to dismiss may be granted for failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action. Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCPP. In considering such a motion, the trial court must base its ruling solely on allegations set forth in the complaint. Spence v. Spence, 368 S.C. 106, 116, 628 S.E.2d 869, 874 (2006). If the facts and inferences drawn from the facts alleged in the complaint, viewed in the light

most favorable to the plaintiff, would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory, then the grant of a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim is improper. Id.

Appellants' complaint alleges claims for personal injury arising out of an automobile accident, which are governed by South Carolina Code Sections 15-3-530(5) and 15-3-535. Consistent with these statutes, the trial court properly held that Appellants' claims must have commenced within three (3) years after they knew or by the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known that they had a cause of action. See S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-3-530(5), 15-3-535.

Further, an injured party must act promptly when the facts and circumstances of an injury would place a reasonable person on notice that a claim against another party might exist. Republic Contracting Corp. v. S.C. Dep't of Highways & Pub. Transp., 332 S.C. 197, 207, 503 S.E.2d 761, 766 (Ct. App. 1998). It is immaterial that an injured party does not comprehend the extent of their injuries. Id. (emphasis added). Therefore, the statute of limitations begins to run when a plaintiff knows or should know of a potential claim against another party, not when the plaintiff develops a full-blown theory of recovery. Id. at 208, 503 S.E.2d at 767.

The South Carolina Supreme Court addressed the statute of limitations issue in a case with facts similar to the allegations made in Appellants' Complaint. In Wiggins v. Edwards, 314 S.C. 126, 442 S.E.2d 169 (1994), the plaintiff was involved in a three car accident at which time she sustained a back injury requiring a four day hospitalization. Although South Carolina Code Section 15-3-535 required the plaintiff to file her personal injury complaint within the three (3) year statute of limitations, she failed to file her complaint until four (4) days after the three (3) year period. The plaintiff argued that the statute did not begin to run until she was able to investigate her case, discover a cause of action, and determine who or what caused her injury. The South Carolina Supreme Court disagreed with the plaintiff's argument. Instead, the Court opined that the date the

statute of limitations begins to run is an objective and not subjective determination. Id. at 128-129. Specifically, the Court held that the statute began to run on the date of the accident which was when the plaintiff was on notice that some right of hers had been invaded or that some claim against another party might exist. Id. The fact that she had not yet sought advice of counsel or had developed a full-blown theory of recovery was irrelevant. Id.

According to the facts alleged in Appellants' complaint, the automobile accident occurred on April 21, 2015 at which time Appellant Stoppiello was struck at a high rate of speed and was thrown around in her vehicle. (R. p. 20, lines 17-20). As a result of the accident, Appellant Stoppiello had headaches and sought medical treatment. (R. p. 20, line 21). Considering the above allegations as true, the trial court properly held that Appellants' claims were discoverable on April 21, 2015 because a person exercising reasonable diligence would know they have a cause of action immediately following an automobile accident that resulted in personal injury. See Wiggins, 314 S.C. at 128, 442 S.E.2d at 170 (holding that the statute of limitations began to run on the date of accident and not at the time plaintiff was actually able to investigate her case); see also Moates v. Bobb, 322 S.C. 172, 174, 470 S.E.2d 402, 403 (Ct. App. 1996) (finding that the statute of limitations began to run on the date of the automobile accident and that the defendant was not estopped from asserting the statute of limitations as a defense because the plaintiff never gave the defendant any indication that the claim would be settled without litigation); see also Bayle v. S.C. DOT, 344 S.C. 115, 126, 542 S.E.2d 736, 741 (Ct. App. 2001) (finding that the statute of limitations began to run on the date of the loss, not when the plaintiff develops absolute certainty that a cause of action exists or discovers the cause of the loss).

In addition to the above, the complaint alleges that Appellant Stoppiello sought additional medical treatment for headaches, flashing lights, and other symptoms months after the automobile

accident. (R. p. 21, lines 1-3) (emphasis added). Thereafter, on March 28, 2016, Appellant Stoppiello was diagnosed with a traumatic brain injury that allegedly resulted from a concussion caused by the automobile accident. (R. p. 21, lines 5-12). The fact that Appellant Stoppiello discovered the extent of her injuries on March 28, 2016 is immaterial because she had notice of her claim against Respondents on April 21, 2015, when the automobile accident occurred and when she had headaches for which she sought medical treatment. See Knox v. Greenville Hosp. Sys., 362 S.C. 566, 570, 608 S.E.2d 459, 462 (Ct. App. 2005) (holding that the statute of limitations began to run when the incident occurred and not when the plaintiff discovered the extent of his injury) (emphasis added); see also Young v. South Carolina Dep't of Corrections, 333 S.C. 714, 719, 511 S.E.2d 413, 416 (Ct. App. 1999) (finding that the statute of limitations began to run when the plaintiff suffered an injury and was not tolled during the period of time in which he was unaware of the extent of his actionable injury) (emphasis added).

Accordingly, the statute of limitations began to run on April 21, 2015 and, therefore, Appellants' claims must have commenced by April 21, 2018. See S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-3-530(5), 15-3-535. Appellants, however, filed their complaint on May 24, 2018 outside the applicable statute of limitations. Thus, the trial court properly granted Respondents' Motion to Dismiss.

III. The trial court did not err in ordering a dismissal pursuant to Sections 15-530(5) and 15-3-535 of the South Carolina Code.

Appellants contend the trial court improperly used a strict interpretation of Sections 15-530(5) and 15-3-535 when it dismissed the case. In support of this contention, Appellants proffer excerpts from Appellant Stoppiello's medical records. Such information is not properly before this Court, as this Court is reviewing the trial court's Order granting Respondents' Motion to Dismiss based on facts alleged in the complaint. However, to the extent that Appellants contend that their

complaint alleges that Appellant Stoppiello did not know she had an injury until March 28, 2016, when she was diagnosed with a concussion, Respondents respectfully disagree.

Respondents do not dispute Appellants' reliance on the South Carolina Supreme Court's application of the statute of limitations in Snell v. Columbia Gun Exch., Inc., 276 S.C. 301, 278 S.E.2d 333 (1981) when it held that:

The exercise of reasonable diligence means simply that an injured party must act with some promptness where the facts and circumstances of an injury would put a person of common knowledge and experience on notice that some right of his has been invaded or that some claim against another party might exist. The statute of limitations begins to run from this point and not when advice of counsel is sought or a full-blown theory of recovery developed.

For the purpose of the Motion to Dismiss only, Respondents do not dispute that Appellant Stoppiello was not aware until March 28, 2016 that she had a "traumatic brain injury" stemming from the automobile accident. (R. p. 21, lines 7-12). However, Respondents contend that Appellants' Complaint acknowledges that Appellant Stoppiello knew she was injured before May 24, 2015, the earliest day on which the statute of limitations began to run in order for Appellants' complaint to have been timely filed.

The automobile accident occurred on April 21, 2015 at which time Respondent Turner's vehicle struck Appellants' vehicle causing Appellant Stoppiello to be "thrown around her vehicle." (R. p. 20, lines 17-20). As discussed above, Appellants allege in their complaint that Appellant Stoppiello had headaches and sought medical treatment as a result of the automobile accident prior to experiencing flashing lights and other symptoms that led her to seek additional medical treatment months later. (R. p. 20, line 21-p. 21, line 3). Construing the allegations in the complaint in a light most favorable to Appellants, it is clear that Appellant Stoppiello was aware that she was injured and

that she may have a claim against Respondents as a result of the automobile accident on the day it occurred.

To the extent that this Court considers the excerpts of medical records proffered by Appellants, Respondents argue that these medical records actually support the trial court's decision. In particular, a medical report dated September 11, 2015 from NeuroRehab Services reveals that Appellant Stoppiello was evaluated by Dr. Tobi Gilbert. During the evaluation, Appellant Stoppiello claimed that she began to experience pain in her lower and mid back approximately two hours after the collision. (R. p. 72) (emphasis added). In their brief, Appellants point out that "initially following the accident, Appellant Stoppiello presented with sleep disturbances, balance difficulties, light headedness, dizziness, and headaches all of which were temporary in nature. Throughout chiropractic treatment she experienced severe headaches and seeing lights following each treatment session." (Appellants' Initial Brief, p. 3; R. p. 75). Of significance, the medical record cited by Appellants for the claim that Appellant Stoppiello had severe headaches and visual disturbances, was dated May 20, 2015, still more than three (3) years before Appellants filed their complaint on May 24, 2018. Thus, even when considering medical records proffered at the motion hearing, it can be undisputed that Appellant Stoppiello had notice of an injury as a result of the automobile accident at least by May 20, 2015 such that she would have known that a claim against Respondents existed more than three (3) years before Appellants filed their complaint.

Appellants contend that this Court, in Grillo v. Speed Rite Products, Inc., 340 S.C. 498, 532 S.E. 2d 1 (Ct. App. 2000), ruled on the existence of circumstances in which the statute of limitations, as written, should be viewed in a more objective matter. Again, Respondents do not dispute this general proposition. However, Respondents contend that Appellants' reliance on Grillo is misplaced. Grillo was a workplace exposure case in which the plaintiff developed headaches over a

period of a year due to repeat and continuous exposure to poisonous ink. Id. Based on the facts, the court found that there was a distinction between temporary symptoms and the point at which the plaintiff could attribute his symptoms to the poisonous ink. Id. The court based its finding on workplace exposure cases such as asbestos, and determined that a reasonable person might have a different opinion as to the cause of the plaintiff's headaches. Id. As such, only the specific diagnosis that the plaintiff's symptoms resulted from the ink exposure put the plaintiff on notice of a legally compensable injury. Id.

Here, however, Appellant Stoppiello was not repeatedly exposed to anything, nor was the cause of her injury unidentifiable without a diagnosis (i.e. like asbestos). Rather, Appellant Stoppiello was in a single automobile accident, after which she began experiencing and sought treatment for headaches. Accordingly, despite Appellants' contention, this Court's approach to temporary symptoms arising from repeat and continuous workplace exposure in Grillo is not applicable in automobile personal injury cases where such symptoms are attributable to a single identifiable cause (i.e. the automobile accident), after which any reasonable person would be on notice of a claim.

IV. Appellant Elvia Stoppiello is not entitled to the toll the statute of limitations pursuant to Section 15-3-40 of the South Carolina Code.

Finally, Appellants contend that they are entitled to the protections set forth in Section 15-3-40(2) of the South Carolina Code because Appellant Stoppiello was diagnosed with a traumatic brain injury on March 28, 2016. Under Section 15-3-40 of the South Carolina Code, a person is entitled to toll the statute of limitations if, at the time the cause of action is accrued, they are insane. The standard for "insanity" under Section 15-3-40(2) is as follows:

Insanity or mental incompetency that tolls the statute of limitations consists of a mental condition which precludes understanding the nature or effects of one's acts, an incapacity to manage one's affairs, an inability to understand

or protect one's rights; because of an over-all inability to function in society, or the mental condition is such as to require care in a [] hospital.

Wiggins v. Edwards, 314 S.C. 126, 129, 442 S.E.2d 169, 170 (1994) (finding that the claimant was not entitled to toll the statute of limitations because confusion or disorientation, as well as failing to lose consciousness, does not constitute "insanity"). Accordingly, Appellants are entitled to toll the statute of limitations only if Appellant Stoppiello was unable to understand the nature or effects of her acts, manage her own affairs, or understand or protect her rights at the time the cause of action was accrued. See S.C. Code § 15-3-40(2) (emphasis added).

In Wiggins, the South Carolina Supreme Court found that the claimant was not entitled to toll the statute of limitations because "confusion" and "disorientation" do not constitute "insanity." 314 S.C. at 129, 442 S.E.2d at 170. Additionally, in Grant-Davis v. S.C. Office of Governor, the United States District Court for the District of South Carolina, Charleston Division, found that the plaintiff was not entitled to toll the statute of limitations because he failed to provide any evidence that his PTSD, depression, and antisocial symptoms resulted in "an over-all inability to function in society." No. 2:15-cv-02521-PMD-MGB, 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 46494 (D.S.C. Jan. 26, 2018). Moreover, in Grant-Davis, the court found that the plaintiff was reasonably and cogently pursuing his remedies at the time his right to action accrued because he wrote and responded to letters regarding his claim. Id. at \*10.

On the other hand, in Timpson v. Haley, the United States District Court for the District of South Carolina, Greenville Division, found that the claimant was entitled to toll the statute of limitations. No. 6:16-1174-MGL, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 135939 (D.S.C. Aug. 24, 2017). Specifically, the court found that the claimant suffered from mental disabilities that require constant care and, accordingly, rose to the level of "insanity" required under S.C. Code § 15-3-40(2). Id. at \*8. Additionally, in Estate of Mims v. S.C. Dep't of Disabilities & Special Needs, the South

Carolina Court of Appeals found that uncontroverted evidence existed that the claimant was mentally incompetent because he required consistent one-to-one care to accomplish daily tasks of living as a result of being born with severe mental disabilities. 422 S.C. 388, 397, 811 S.E.2d 807, 812 (Ct. App. 2017).